


JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This is an action arising under Sections 5(a), 5(m)(1)(A), 13(b), 16(a), and 19 of

the Federal Trade Commission Act (“FTC Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b), 56(a),

and 57b, the Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud and Abuse Prevention Act (“Telemarketing

Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., and the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act (“FDCPA”), 

15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., to obtain monetary civil penalties, a permanent injunction, restitution,

the refund of monies paid, disgorgement, and other equitable relief for Defendants’ violations of

Section 5 of the FTC Act, the Commission’s Telemarketing Sales Rule (“TSR”), 16 C.F.R. Part

310, and the FDCPA.

2. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331, 1337, 1345,

and 1355, and under 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b), 57b, 1692l, 6102(c), and 6105(b).  This

action arises under 15 U.S.C. § 45(a)(1) and 15 U.S.C. § 1692l.

3. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the Central District of

Illinois under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1391(b)-(c) and 1395(a) and 15 U.S.C. § 53(b).  Venue is proper in

the Peoria Division because the events giving rise to this claim occurred in, and the corporate

defendant’s principal place of business is located in, the city of Peoria in Peoria County, Illinois,

within this District.

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION

4. The Commission is an independent agency of the United States Government

created by statute.  15 U.S.C. §§ 41-58.  The Commission enforces Section 5(a) of the FTC Act,

15 U.S.C. § 45(a), which prohibits unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce. 

The Commission also enforces the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., which prohibits abusive,
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deceptive, and unfair debt collection practices.  Additionally, the Commission enforces the

Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 6101-6108.  Pursuant to the Telemarketing Act, the

Commission promulgated and enforces the TSR, 16 C.F.R. Part 310, which prohibits deceptive

and abusive telemarketing acts or practices.

DEFENDANTS

5. Defendant Luebke Baker and Associates, Inc. (“LBA” or “company”) is an Illinois

corporation.  Until May 2009, the company’s principal place of business was located within the

Central District of Illinois at 8903 N. Pioneer Rd., Peoria, Illinois 61615.  Since May 2009, the

company’s principal place of business has been located at 285 Elm Street #301, Cumming,

Georgia 30040.  At all times relevant to this Complaint, LBA has transacted business in the

Central District of Illinois.

6. Defendant Kevin J. Luebke is President, Chief Executive Officer, and principal

shareholder of LBA.  Defendant Luebke plays an active role in the management and supervision

of LBA’s debt collection activities.  Defendant Luebke, in his capacity as the President, Chief

Executive Officer, and principal shareholder of LBA, formulated, directed, participated in,

controlled, or had the authority to control, the acts and practices of LBA, including the acts and

practices alleged in this Complaint.  Defendant Luebke knew or should have known of the

violations described in this Complaint.  At all times relevant to this Complaint, Defendant

Luebke has resided or transacted business in the Central District of Illinois.

7. Defendant Matthew T. Scott is the Director of Operations of LBA.  Defendant

Scott plays an active role in the management and supervision of LBA’s debt collection activities. 

Defendant Scott, in his capacity as the Director of Operations of LBA, formulated, directed,

Page 3 of 22

1:12-cv-01145-JES-JAG   # 1    Page 3 of 22                                              
     





10. Defendants Luebke Baker and Associates, Inc., Kevin J. Luebke, Matthew T.

Scott, Leslie M. Farrar, and Joel P. Ferguson (“Defendants”) are or were “debt collectors” as

defined in Section 803(6) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(6).

11. Relief Defendant Julissa W. Luebke (“Relief Defendant”) resides in the state of

Georgia with her spouse, Defendant Kevin J. Luebke.  Relief Defendant has received, directly or

indirectly, funds or other assets from the proceeds of Defendants’ unlawful acts or practices

alleged below, and Relief Defendant has no legitimate claim to these funds.  From January 2005

to the present, Relief Defendant received a salary from Defendant LBA totaling approximately

$420,000.  However, Relief Defendant worked no more than two to four hours per month on

special projects, such as Christmas party planning and providing office decorating ideas.  The

minimal services Relief Defendant provided to Defendant LBA are insufficient for her to make a

legitimate claim to these funds.  

12. The term “consumer,” as used in this Complaint, means any natural person

obligated or allegedly obligated to pay any debt, as “debt” is defined in Section 803(5) of the

FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692a(5).

COMMERCE

13. At all times material to this Complaint, Defendants have maintained a substantial

course of trade in the collection of debts, in or affecting commerce, as “commerce” is defined in 

Section 4 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 44.
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22. In numerous instances when LBA sent the letter described in Paragraph 21 stating

that the company may approve the debtor’s account for suit, LBA had reason to know there were

facts that made this action unlikely.

23. In numerous instances, LBA collectors threatened or implied that LBA would

have consumers’ wages garnished if they failed to pay LBA.  Collectors in the Charge-off

Department frequently told consumers LBA would win any lawsuit filed against them and then

LBA could have their wages garnished.  In addition, the Rebuttal Sheet used by the Charge-off

Department instructed LBA collectors to tell debtors that LBA will “use your paycheck as an

asset.”  The Rebuttal Sheet is attached as Exhibit A.

24. In numerous instances, LBA collectors threatened to have consumers’ wages

garnished, when LBA had no legal authority or intent to take the legal actions necessary to have

consumers’ wages garnished.

25. In numerous instances when consumers claimed that debts were too old to be

collected, LBA collectors in the Magazine Department falsely stated that there is no statute of

limitations on magazine accounts.

26. In some instances, LBA’s managers, including individual Defendants, participated

in or encouraged the actions described in Paragraphs 16 through 25, above.  In other instances,

Defendants were aware of these practices by the collectors under their supervision, but failed to

appropriately discipline the collectors.  In still other instances, Defendants either ignored the

violative acts and practices or failed to exercise the supervision necessary to make themselves

aware of the significant problems occurring within their organization. 
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entire telephone call in which the disclosures are made, the express consent to purchase is

obtained, and the express authorization to be charged is obtained.  The Summary is attached as

Exhibit C.

35. LBA also received a one-page overview of the XMM Order from Summit

Investment Management, LLC, a subsequent assignee of the XMM accounts.  This document,

titled, “Cross Media FTC Collections Overview Document” (“Overview”) informed Defendants

that some XMM consumers “were mislead [sic] about the terms of the agreement.”  Specifically,

the Overview stated that, at the time of sale, consumers may not have known the full cost of the

magazines, the length of the agreement, or the cancellation policy.  In addition, the Overview

informed Defendants that an FTC decree governs how collection agencies “must treat the

consumers who signed up for these magazine subscriptions.”  The Overview is attached as

Exhibit D.

36. The Summary and Overview informed Defendants that XMM was under a federal

court order requiring certain preconditions to be met before XMM, or its successors, assigns, and

agents, could attempt to collect payment for magazine subscriptions.  Read together, these

documents indicated that, in numerous instances, the required preconditions were not met. 

Therefore, Defendants knew or should have known that the debts purportedly owed to XMM

may not be valid and that consumers may not have a legal obligation to pay XMM.  In addition,

Defendants knew or should have known that, in some instances, the debts purportedly owed to

XMM were not valid.  In spite of this knowledge, Defendants caused or permitted the company’s

collectors to make numerous representations to consumers that their debts to XMM were valid,
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Upsale of Credit Solutions

39. In numerous instances, after reaching a settlement, LBA attempted to “upsell” its

“Credit Solutions” program in the same telephone call as it obtained the consumer’s agreement to

settle a debt.

40. According to an LBA sales script, the Credit Solutions program included “a CD-

ROM with an easy to understand information packet that includes easy step-by-step instructions,”

and was designed, among other things, to help consumers with credit problems “build [their]

credit score back up.”  Potential purchasers were informed that, since they settled their debt with

LBA, they qualified for the Credit Solutions program and they could purchase it for half-price. 

After consumers agreed to purchase the Credit Solutions program, a $39.95 charge was placed on

their credit cards or debited from their checking accounts through electronic bank drafts.  LBA

then mailed the Credit Solutions CD-ROM and information packet to consumers.  The Credit

Solutions sales script is attached as Exhibit F.

VIOLATIONS OF SECTION 5 OF THE FTC ACT

41. Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a), prohibits “unfair or deceptive acts

or practices in or affecting commerce.”  Misrepresentations or deceptive omissions of material

facts constitute deceptive acts or practices prohibited by Section 5(a) of the FTC Act.

COUNT I

42. Through the means described in Paragraphs 16-26, in numerous instances, in

connection with the collection of debts, Defendants, directly or indirectly, have represented to

consumers, expressly or by implication, that:
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COUNT II

45. In numerous instances, through the means described in Paragraphs 30-38, in the

course of collecting debts purportedly owed to XMM, Defendants, directly or indirectly, have

represented to consumers, expressly or by implication, that the XMM debts were valid and that

consumers had an obligation to pay the XMM debts. 

46. In truth and in fact, in numerous instances the material representations set forth in

Paragraph 45 were false or Defendants did not have a reasonable basis for the representations at

the time the representations were made.  

47. Therefore, the representations set forth in Paragraph 45 were false or misleading

and constitute deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C.

§ 45(a).

VIOLATIONS OF THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT

48. In 1977, Congress passed the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C. § 1692 et seq., which became

effective on March 20, 1978, and has been in force since that date.  Section 814 of the FDCPA,

15 U.S.C. § 1692l, specifically empowers the Commisn in force
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COUNT III

49. Through the means described in Paragraphs 16-26 and Paragraphs 30-38, in

numerous instances, in connection with the collection of debts, Defendants have used false,

deceptive, or misleading representations or means, including, but not limited to, the following:

(a) Defendants, directly or indirectly, have falsely represented the character,

amount, or legal status of a debt; 

(b) Defendants, directly or indirectly, have falsely represented or implied that

an individual was an attorney or that a communication was from an

attorney; 

(c) Defendants, directly or indirectly, have falsely represented or implied that

nonpayment of a debt would result in the arrest or imprisonment of a

person or the seizure, garnishment, or attachment of a person’s property or

wages, when such action was not lawful or when neither LBA nor the

creditor had the intention of taking such action;

(d) Defendants, directly or indirectly, have threatened to take actions that

could not legally be taken or that were not intended to be taken;

(e) Defendants, directly or indirectly, have used false representations or

deceptive means to collect or attempt to collect debts or to obtain

information concerning a consumer; and

(f) Defendants, directly or indirectly, have used a false business, company, or

organization name.

Page 16 of 22

1:12-cv-01145-JES-JAG   # 1    Page 16 of 22                                             
      



50. Defendants’ acts or practices as described in Paragraph 49(a)-(f) violate,

respectively, Sections 807(2)(a), (3), (4), (5), (10), and (14) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.

§ 1692e(2)(a), (3), (4), (5), (10), and (14).  Pursuant to Section 814(a) of the FDCPA, 15 U.S.C.

§ 1692l(a), Defendants’ acts or practices as described in Paragraph 49 also constitute unfair or

deceptive acts or practices in violation of Section 5(a) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

VIOLATIONS OF THE TELEMARKETING SALES RULE

51. In the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6101 et seq., Congress directed the

Commission to prescribe rules prohibiting abusive and deceptive telemarketing acts or practices. 

On August 16, 1995, the Commission promulgated the TSR, 16 C.F.R. Part 310, which became

effective on December 31, 1995.  On January 29, 2003, the Commission amended the TSR by

issuing a Statement of Basis and Purpose.  The final amended TSR became effective on March

31, 2003.  68 Fed. Reg. 4580, 4669.

52. Debt collectors are covered by the TSR if the collector engages in “upselling”

during a collection call and the upsale portion of the telephone call meets the definition of

“telemarketing.”  68 Fed. Reg. 4663-64 and n.1020.

53. “Upselling” means soliciting the purchase of goods or services following an initial

transaction during a single telephone call. 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd).  “Telemarketing” means a plan,

program, or campaign which is conducted to induce the purchase of goods or services by use of

one or more telephones and which involves more than one interstate telephone call.  

16 C.F.R. § 310.2(cc).

54. The TSR prohibits sellers and telemarketers from requesting or receiving payment

of any fee or consideration for goods or services, represented to remove derogatory information
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from, or improve, a person’s credit history, credit record, or credit rating, until the time period for

providing all the goods or services has expired and the seller has demonstrated that the promised

results have been achieved.  16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2). 

55. Pursuant to Section 3(c) of the Telemarketing Act, 15 U.S.C. § 6102(c), and

Section 18(d)(3) of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 57a(d)(3), violations of the TSR constitute

unfair or deceptive acts or practices in or affecting commerce, in violation of Section 5(a) of

the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. § 45(a).

COUNT IV

56. Through the means described in Paragraphs 39 and 40, in numerous instances,

Defendants, directly or indirectly, have solicited the sale of their Credit Solutions program during

the same telephone calls in which they collected debts.  Therefore, the solicitation for Credit

Solutions was an “upsell” as defined by the TSR.  16 C.F.R. § 310.2(dd). 

57. In those instances where Defendants upsold the Credit Solutions program,

Defendants were “sellers” or “telemarketers” engaged in “telemarketing,” as those terms are

defined in the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.2(z), (bb), and (cc).  As a result, the upsale portion of

Defendants’ telephone call was covered by the TSR. 

58. Defendants’ Credit Solutions program was a good or service designed to improve

a person’s credit history, credit record, or credit rating.  Consequently, the TSR prohibited

Defendants from requesting or receiving payment until the time period for providing all the

goods or services had expired and they had demonstrated that the promised results had been

achieved.  16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2). 
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59. In numerous instances, Defendants, directly or indirectly, have requested and

received payment for the Credit Solutions program before the time period for providing all the

goods or services had expired and before Defendants had demonstrated that the promised results

had been achieved.  

60. Therefore, Defendants’ practices as set forth in Paragraphs 56-59 were abusive

telemarketing practices that violated Section 310.4(a)(2) of the TSR, 16 C.F.R. § 310.4(a)(2).

DISGORGEMENT OF RELIEF DEFENDANT’S ILL-GOTTEN GAIN

COUNT V

61. Relief Defendant, Julissa W. Luebke, has received, directly or indirectly, funds or

other assets from the proceeds of Defendants’ unlawful acts or practices set forth in Paragraphs

16-40.  

62. Relief Defendant obtained these funds or other assets under circumstances in

which it is unjust, inequitable, or unconscionable for her to retain these assets.  Relief Defendant

will be unjustly enriched if she is not required to disgorge the funds or the value of the benefit

she received as a result of Defendants’ unlawful acts or practices.

63. By reason of the foregoing, the Commission is entitled to an order requiring that

Relief Defendant disgorge all funds and assets, or the value of the benefit she received from the

funds and assets, which are from the proceeds of Defendants’ unlawful acts or practices.

INJUNCTIVE RELIEF FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FTC ACT, Fece
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(m)(1)(A), 53(b), 1692l, and the

Court’s own equitable powers, respectfully requests that the Court:

1. Enter judgment against Defendants and in favor of Plaintiff for each law violation

alleged in this Complaint;

2. Enter a permanent injunction to prevent future violations of the FTC Act, the

FDCPA, and the TSR by Defendants; 

3. Award such relief as the Court finds necessary to redress injury to consumers

resulting from Defendants’ violations of the FTC Act, the FDCPA, and the TSR,

including, but not limited to, rescission or reformation of contracts, restitution, the

refund of monies paid, and the disgorgement of ill-gotten monies; 

4. Award Plaintiff monetary civil penalties for each violation of the FDCPA and the

TSR occurring within five (5) years preceding the filing of this Complaint; 

5. Enter an order requiring Relief Defendant to disgorge all funds and assets, or the

value of the benefit she received from the funds and assets, which are from the

proceeds of Defendants’ unlawful acts or practices; and

6. Award Plaintiff the costs of bringing this action, as well as such other and

additional relief as the Court may determine to be just and proper.
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